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SIR WILLIAM ALEXANDER.
Condensed from a paper read by Mr. W. W. L. Chipman, before the.
Socicty for Historical Studies, Montreal, 16th November, 1887.

Sir William Alexander, born about 1567, at Menstry, a
village in the parish of Logie, Clackmannanshire. Son of
Alexander Alexander and his wife, Marian, daughter o
Allan Couttie. His sisters were Janet and Christian ; he
had no brothers. Family originally named MacAlexander,
and, like the Argylls, claimed descent from the Viking Conn
Chead Chath. His father died in 1580 and he went to live
with his granduncle, who sent him to Stirling Grammar
School at the age of thirteen. His personal appearance at
the age of fifty-seven, as represented in a wood-cut by Mar-
shall, resembled that of his contemporary Shakespeare. His
forehead was high, his eyces large, his nose long and straight,
and his well shaped head covered with a profusion of curly
hair. He wore a moustache and well trimmed beard of
medium length—the whole a pleasing and intelligent
countenance set off by a huge Elizabethian ruff. He was
educated at Stirling, and afterwards travelled with the Earl
of Argyll, whose favorable mention of him to King James
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led to his appointment as tutor to Prince Henry. He thus
acquired an influence at Court which he maintained. His
career extended over thirty-six years of Elizabeth’s reign,
all of James’ reign and fifteen years into the reign of
Charles I. The facts recorded of the first thirty years of
his life are very meagre, which renders the painstaking re- -
searches of such men as Slafter and Rogers the more valu-
able. His leisure at this time appears to have been devot-
ed to literature. In 1597 A. occupied the manor home
and lands at Menstry xnd annually visited them in the
autumn, even when his residence was a Covent Garden,
London, whither he removed in 1603 on the accession of
James to the Iinglish throne. At about this time he mar-
ried the daughter of Sir William Erskine, by whom he had
issue eight sons and three daughters.

He was attached to Prince Henry’s houschold and reccived
soveral lucrative marks of royal favor, and also the
knighthood, which was conferred about this time. Upon
the death of Prince Henry, in 1612, A. received a position
in the household of Prince Charles and in 1614 was made
Master of Requests to the King.

Al’s attention was shortly after this drawn to America
and he obtained a surrender of the charter of the Plymouth
Company, and on the the 10th September, 1621, a grant to
himself of a tract including the present Provinces of Nova
Scotia and New Brunswick, with the Counties of Rimouski,
Gaspé and Bonaventure, in the Province of Quebec; the
whole then called New Scotland, and by A. sub-divided into
New Alexandria and New Caledonia. He was appointed
hereditary lieutenant, with power to use the mines and
forests, erect cities, hold courts, grant lands, coin money,
otc. The consideration of this grant was one penny Scots,
payable each Christmas Day.

A. next obtained the co-operation of Sir Robert Gordon
of Lochinvar, to whoma he gave the territory at Cape
Breton, thenceforth to be known as the Barony of New
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Galloway, which grant was confirmed by Royal charter on
the 8th November, 1621. The following August, a small
party of cmigrants sailed for New Scotland, but was com-
pelled, by stress of weather, to winter at St. Johns, New-
foundland. Nine months later, a second ship reached St.
Johns with more emigrants and supplies, only to find the
first ship’s passengers disccuraged and separated. A few of
the newly arrived party sailed at the close of June to
examine the cnasts of New Scotland as far as Port Negro
and to select their place of settlement. Returning to their
fellow voyagers, after a short survey, they decided to re-
embark for England.

The accounts which they gave to Sir William Alexander
on their arrival seem to have inspired him to renewed
efforts, though his two expeditions had involved him in a
loss of six thousand pounds. Through his influence with
King James, he procured a warrant upon the Scottish
treasury for the re-imbursement, of his loss, but from lack of
resources, or other reasons, it was not responded to.

The next plan hit upon by Alexander to recoup himself
for this loss, was to induce the King to create one hundred
baronets, limited to sons of Scottish land-owners and
younger sons of the nobility, who should purchase lands in
the new colony. Itwas intended to divide each province of
New Scotland into several dioceses, each diocese into three
counties, each county into three baronies, and each barony
into six parishes. The baronies were to reach three miles
along the coast and ten miles inland, and the parish
divisions wore to contain six thousand acres each. On the
23rd of November, 1624, the Scottish Council adopted this
plan, it being understood that each baronet was to be a
baronet of some one or others of these baronies, and to have
ten thousand acres of land besides the six thousand acres
belonging to his barony. TFor all this had to be paid one
thousand merkis Scottish money, and each baronet was lo
send out to the colony six men, armed, apparelled and pro-
vided for two years.
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The proclamation, 30th November, 1624, provided that
these provisions should be complied with under a penalty of
two thousand merkis, equivalent to £119 8s. 4d sterling, or
$537.29 which wasregarded and accepted as a commutation
price for the title which came divect from the Crown.
Amongst the baronets thus created were Sir Robert Gordon,
Tarl Marischal, Alexander Strachan, Sir Duncan Campbell,
Robert Innes, Sir John Wemyss, David Livingstone and
Sir Robert Douglass. On the 12th July, 1625, a further
charter was issued by King Charles respecting these titles
and re-conveying the unsold lands to Alexander who had
surrendered them to the Crown for the purposes of the Act.
This proclamation also increased the number to one hundred
and fifty.

A pampblet entitled ¢ Encouragement to Colonists,” was
published by Alexandex in 1624, illustrated by & map. In
1626 Alexander was appointed Secretary of State for
Scotland and secured the lands and barony of Menstry. He
rapidly increased his influence in this position and acquired -
several perquisites, and in the spring of 1629 sent another
expedition to New Scotland under command of Capt. David
Kertch as Deputy Admiral, Sir William himself having
been created Admiral of New Scotland by letters patent
dated 3rd May, 1627. This expedition was intended to
check the power of Cardinal Richelieu’s French company of
a hundred associates, and also to cope with the Spanish and
French traders. Kertch captured eighteen French trans-
ports, with one hundred and thirty-three pieces of ordnance
destined for the fortificatious of Port Royal and Quebec, a
success which he followed up by the capture of Port Royal.

On the 2nd of February, 1628, Alexander obtained a further
grant, including the Island of Anticosti, and all other
islands in the Gulf between New Scotland and Newfound-
land, and all the islands of the River of Canada up to its
source, then thought to be the Gulf of California, together
with fifty leagues (that is one hundred and fifty miles) on
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cither side of the river. The following spring (1628) .
fourteen new patents of baronetcy were issued, and the
avails invested in further ships, and in May, Alexander’s
oldest son William, who had been created Xnight Admiral
of New Scotland, sailed with a fleet of four vessels with
seventy-two colonists and a year’s provisions. He arrived
at Port Royal, but soon returned to England, eager to
procure, as he did, a commission covering a charter for a
company having the sole trading rights of the Gulf and
River of Canada, to frustrate the intentions in the same
direction, of certain English adventurers. "

At this time, Sir William Alexander, the clder, found an
adventurer without means in Lord Ochiltree, who provided
by King Charles with the loan of five hundred pounds,
joined Sir William Alexander, the younger, on his second
expedition. In June 1629, Capt. Kertch reported from Port
Royal that his colony wasin an impoverished condition, and
it was found that thirty of the colonists had died.

Special efforts were made at home to force reception of
baronetcies, and the King plainly hinted that higher honours
would ultimately await the acceptors, and that all holding
heritable oftices would find their promotion in danger if they
did not help the colonial scheme. On the 23rd of April,
1629, a treaty of peace between France and England had
been signed, and under this Lord Ochiltree and his set-
tlers were dispossessed at Cape Breton, some being trans-
ported to France as prisoners, In this year, Sir William
Alexander obtained the lands and barony of Tullibody. In
the same year, Claude de la Tour, the former Governor of
Port Royal, who had gone to England after his capture by
Kertch in 1628, returned to New Scotland a faithful subject
of Kngland, with two ships of war. e had been created a
Baronet of New Scotland, and had acquired by purchase
from Sir William Alexander an imimense tract of land
extending from the sea inland, some thirty or forty miles.
and reaching from the present Yarmouth to Lunenburgh,



comprising the present county of Shelburne and Queens and
half of Lunenburg.*

Sir William Alexander’s claims to New Scotiand were
now in danger by the counter claims of the French Govern-
ment, through the persistent efforts of Cardinal Richelieu.
Six baronies were however created in 1629, and thirteen in
the following year. It is apparent that notwithstanding
the treaty of peace, England had not looked forward to res-
toring Port Royal or the territory of New Scotland, though
she had intended to restore Quebec, which had been wrested
from Champlain by Kertch after the treaty of peace had
been signed. -

Some anxiety seems to have been felt by the newly
created baronets as to their possessions and titles in the
colony, and Sir William Alexander was ordered to attend a
meeting of the Scottish estates, at which he maintamed the
legality of the English claim to New Scotland and the
greater part of Canada, basing his argument upon the pri-
ority of discovery, possession and the removal of the FFrench
from Port Royal. For services rendered at this time, he
received the titles ot Viscount Stirling and Lord Alexander
of Tullibody, and was renominated Master of Requests for
Scotiand, at a salary of two hundred pounds, and in 1631
received further honours,

The colony at Port Royal still remained under command
of his eldest son, Sir William Alexander, who returned to
England in July 1631, when Port Royal was ceded to the
French. Viscount Stirling, the Privy Council and the
baronets vainly struggled to retain the territory, but its sur-
render was formally concluded under the treaty of St. Ger-
main-en-Laye on the 29th March, 1632. Viscount Stirling

* The statement of Xialiburton that he ncquired the whole of Nova Scotia ex-
cept Port Ruyal i8 incorrect, as appears by La Tour’s deed which was registered
in 1659 at Suifolk Mass. Haliburton may have tollowed the statementof dirdchn
Secott ot Scots Taroet to the effect that Sir William got a great sum of money trom
the King of France to quit his interest in Nova Scotia. [l e was at any rate aware
of the random statement of Sir Thomas Urquhart that he disposed ** totally to the

French for a matter ot five or six thousand pounds English money both tne
dominion and property of the whole country of that kingdom of Nova Scotin,”
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received a warrant of £10,000 in compensation for all claims
in this connection, although no provision seems to have
been made for the unfortunate baronets of New Scotland, of
whom there appeared to have been 113 in all enrolled
between 1625 and 1638. .

Taking the number at 113, it would appear that as each
paid two thousand Scotch merkis, * the amount raised in
this way was £12,4'77.1.8 sterling, equivalent to $60,713.%%7
of our present money.

Viscount Stirling now turned his attention to matters
nearer home, and secured the privilege of fishing on the
west coast of Scotlana for a company employing 200 vessels
of various sizes.

On the 11th May, 1633, Sir William Alexander, the
younger, received & Royal patent for thirty-one years with
the sole trading rights of the gulf and river of Canada and
adjoining regions, and on the 14th June, 1633, upon the oc-
casion of King Charles’ coronation at Holyrood, Viscount
Stirling was advanced to the dignity of an Earl with the
additional title of Viscount Canada.

On the 29th April, 1635, his son William, then styled Lord
Alexander by courtesy, obtained from the Council of the
New Ingland Company, a patent of that part of the main
land of New England from St. Croix, adjoining New Scot-
land along the sea zoast of Pemaquid. and so up the river
to the Kennebeck, and northwards to the river of Canada,
to be called the County of Canada, also along the island to
the west of Cape Cod, to be called the Isle of Sterling. This
patent was subsequently surrendered, and grants made
direct from the Crown in eight divisions along the sea
coast of New England. In 163%, his second son Anthony
died, and his eldest son William, died the followiag year
(1638}, on the 13th May.

In 1639 the influence of the Earl of Stirling was on the
wane, although in this year he took the further title of

¢ A merkis or merk_was thirteen shillings and fourpence Scot or one shilling
and a penny and g third of a penny sterling.
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Tarl of Doven. His debts were now pressing heavily upon
him, and had reached the sum of £32,680, and his estates
were practically in the hands of his creditors.

On the 12th February, 1640, just two months prior to the
assembly of the Short Parliament, when King Charles and
his monopolies wore the subject of attack, the Earl’s death
ensued at his residence in Covent Garden, London. The
body was embalmed, placed in aleaden coffin, and conveyed
to Stirling, where it is said to have remained in the family
vault undisturbed for a period of one hundred years.

The Earl had four successors in the earldom, the last of
whom (Henry, the fifth earl) died without issue on the 4th
of December, 1739. A claimant for the earldom appeared
in 1759, in the person of William Alexander, of New Jersey,
U.S,, afterwards a Major-General in the American Revolu-
tionary army. He assumed the title, but his pretensions
were not allowed ; yet, his countrymen continued to extend
to him the title of Lord Stirling. On the 25th July, 1887,
the decease occurred, at the age of 100 years, eight months
and twenty days, of a grand-daughter of the American
claimant, a Mrs. J. Witherspoon Smith, in her day one of
the most brilliant and beautiful women in New Orleans.
Her mother, the daughter of the so-called Lord Stirling,
was styled Lady Catherine Duer.

The title to the esrldom remained dormant until legal
proceedings were taken by Alexander Humphreys in 1826,
following a petition which he had made in 1815, claiming
descent, through his mother, from the fourth earl. He
pressed his claim until 1839, when he was indicted for
forgery of certain documents, and his was one of the most
noted of State trials. The documents were declared forged,
and though the forgery was not brought home to Hum-
phreys, his claims to the title were defeated. He had gone
so far in 1838 as to forward to Liord Melbourne a solemn
protest as hereditary Lieutenant to Ier Majesty in these
parts against the appointment of the Barl of Durham as
Governor-General of the colony.

.
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As a poet, Earl Stirling justly won the praises of several
noted poets of his own day, but only to pass into oblivion.
Writers upon English literature entirely ignore him, while
remembering those who have praised his poetry. In his
writings he sought to persuade the heart. In his “Dooms-
day ” poem he invoked, in the very outset, a I'_vine blessing
upon his effort. When we think how strangely disturbed
the times were in which he lived, and how unfavourable to
the purer kind of literary production; when we remember
how great the enterprise needed to plant a colony single-
handed, we must accord him no small meed of praise.
Behind all the unworthy expedients which his public under-
takings led him to adopt, we see those better moments
which bespeak the poet and the gentleman. We can for-
give the weaknesses and the spirit of avarice which seconded
the spirit of adventure, and restore Sir William Alexander
to an honourable place in the annals of both the old and
the new world.

For in his own words :—

“This is the grief which bursts a generous heart,
When favour comes by chance, not by desart.”

And again:—

“ We want all that did advance our name,
For in a corner of the world obscure,
We rest ungraced without the bounds of fame.”

Aotes.

[Communicated by Mr. JorNx RpADE.]

One of the ablest and most active of the French Inten-
dants of the Old Regime was M, Hocquart. Not only did
he endeavour to develop the resources of the colony, but he
was also the author of some clear, comprehersive and vigor-
ousreports on thestate of Canada during his administration,
To a memoir not unreasonably attributed to his pen we are
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indebted for a most interesting and valuable account of the
people of Canada—comprising the noblesse, the mercantile
community and habitans—in the period that preceded the
outbreak of the final struggle between France and Eng-
tand. To him may also be ascribed the first attempt made
in Canada in the direction of scientific and experimental
farming. He had tests in the cultivation of tobaccc and
other plants conducted on his own property at Chambly, at
Beauport and in the grounds adjoining the Intendant’s
Palace. Under his auspices, moreover, was undertaken what
may be designated the first Colonial Exhibition held in
Burope. TFor, in order to disseminate needed knowledge
concerning Canada, he had a sclection of the leading native
products—plants, grains, fruits, woods, minerals, furs, ete.,
—carefully made and sent to the mother country. It was
at his suggestion that the Forsters, father and son, were
ordered by the King to inspect the mines of Canada, and
the working of the St. Maurice Forges was also of" his con-
ception. Dr. Sarrasin, Dr. La Croix, Father Gosselin and
other men of scientific tastes, found in Mr. Hoequart an
ardent sympathizer and fellow-worker. The memory of
such a man should be held in honor in a land of which he
was one of the first to discern the real importance, and in
his efforts to develop whose resourses he anticipated some
of the movements v. hich we deem especially characteristic
of our own time.

What was the motive which “uduced the British autho-
rities to establish, and maintain for nearly sixty years, a
Lieutenant-Governorship in Gaspé? Dr. N. E. Dionne, in a
little volume of Etudes Historiques, which I have already
had occasion to mention in Canadiana, ascribes that policy
to the necessity of making all possible provision for the
loyalist refugees. Not only was a vast tract placed at their
disposal in Upper Canada, not only were they welcomed to
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New Brunswick, but a region large enough to constitute no
inconsiderable province, was set apart for them in Gaspé
and Bonaventure. If that be the explanation, no time was
lost in preparing for the coming emergency, as the first
Licutenant-Governor of Gaspé, Nicholas Cox, received his
nomination as early as 17'74. It was not until 1780, how-
ever, that he betook himself to the scene of his administra-
tion. In 1784 he was awarded a pension, and in 1794 his
death was announced in the Quebec Gazette. In the
obituary notice, he is also named “Superintendent of the
Labrador Fisheries.” Captain Cox was a brave officer, who
had fought at Louisbourg and at Quebee, and his governor-
ship was meant to be the reward of his services. His
successors were Francis Le Maistre, who died in 1805, and
Alexander Forbes, who survived the abolition of the office.
Christie (Vol. 11. p. 347) mentions an addrese [the first of
several such remonstrances) to the Governor-General, on a
number of anomalics of administration of which one was
the payment of a salary to Mr. Forbes. Nevertheless, Mr.
Forbes continued to be paid it down to the year 1831, if not
longer, and was mentioned as Lieutenant-Governor of Gaspé
in official publications as late as 1833.

Taking up a recently published pictovial guide to summer
resorts, and glancing through its pages, I came upon the
following passage: *The original name of the Saguenay
was Chicoutimi, which signifies ‘deep water,” and was so
called by the Northern Indians, who here first encountered
the profound depths of the river; the present name is a
corruption of St. Jean Neg.” Now, in the *“Oeuvres de
Champlain,” edited by the late Abbé Laverdidre (Quebec,
Geo. B. Desbarats, 1870), page 68, I tind a note which,
being translated, reads as follows: “ Father Jerome
Lalemant (Relation 1646) says that the Indians called
Tadoussac Sadilege; on the other hand, Thevet, in his
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¢Grand Insulaire, affirms that the Indians of his time
called the Saguenay Thadoyseaw. It is probable that at
those different epochs, as is still the case, one of these
terms was often taken for the other. What is certain is
that both words are of Indian origin. ZTadoussac or Ta-
douchac means mamelons or “mounds” (from the word
totouchac, which in Montagnais means ‘a teat’ or ‘nipple’),
and Saguenay signifies ‘water issuing forth’ (from the
Montagnais sakinip).”

On the same subject I found a curious passage in a paper
entitled “I’Amerique et les Portugais,” contributed by
Seiior Lmuciano Cordeiro, professor at the Institute of
Columbia, to the first Congrés des Américanistes, and print-
ed in the Compte-Rendu of the proceedings at Nancy in
1875. < Canada,” according to Sefior Cordeiro, is a
Potuguese term, meaning a narrow passage or a path bound-
ed by walls. Having ascended the St. Liawrence, the Portu-
guese explorers gave the River that name (Canada) either
from its configuration,or because they believed it tobe a chan-
nel by which they could rcach the East. Sefior Cordeire
also suggests another explanation. In 1439 or 1440, Denis
Fernandes had discovered in Africa a great river which
was called Canaga (now Senegal), near the mouth of which
a fort was built in 1470. By that river it was thought pos-
sible to attain the intérior of Prester John’s Dominions and
thus find a new route to India. The mouth of the river was
called Sonedech, according to Goes, Ovedech, according to
Barros, and Tuedec, according to Emanucl Correia. Per-
haps, then, the Portugucse adventurers, in first sceing the St.
Lawrence, were reminded of the $anuga and Seiior Cordeiro
finds some ground for this hypothesis in the fact that it was
at the influence of the Scguenai (sic) and the main river
that Cartier seemed to have picked up the word “ Canada.”
Association of ideas might then have recalled to his mind
the other African term, “Tuedee,” and thus the destined
capital of new France might have obtained its name. 1
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give these conjectures as I find them, more as curiosities
than as having any probability.

Abbé Cuoq, who is one of the best Indian scholars in
North America, has settled the derivation of Canada.
In his “Lexique de la Languc Iroquoise avec Notes et
Appendices,” I find the following definition: ¢ Kanata:
Ville, village, bourg, bourgade, camp, campement de
plusieurs, group de tentes. De ] le nom de Canada auquel
on a vouly, tout récemment encore, mais toujours sans
fondement solide, assigner unc toute antre étymologic.”

(Communicated by Mn. Wirixam McLbyNax.)

The exact scene of De Maisonneuve’s exploit with the
Iroquois chief in 1644, discussed in the March number,
has always been a disputed point, and from its being styled
the ‘““Exploit of the Place d’Armies” by modern writers, it
has been frequently held that the old Place d’Armeg, Custom
House Square, is meant. The Abbé Rousseau, in his Vie de
De Maisonneuve, page 77, upholds this view. But the Abbé¢
Faillon, in his exhaustive and authoritative Histoire de la
Colonie Frangaise, Vol. II, p. 25, gives his cogent reasons for
the present Place d’Armes. The story is so familiar that
we need not repeat it here, but an examination of the sur-
roundings may help us to determine the probable scene of
the encounter.

The Hotel Diey, at the corner of St. Paul and the present
St. Sulpice streets, was the first building of importance
erected beyond the immediate limits of the Fort, and even
this was at a distance of not more than three hundred yards.
The work there was being pushed forward with all rapidity,
and there was constant passing to and fro between the Fort
and this point. The little colony had too practical an ex-
perience with the methods of Indian warfare to negleet so
simple a precaution as that of removing the natural means
of ambush along such a road, and it is improbable in any
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case that the viver front was heavily wooded. So that the
chemin de traine referred to in Dollier de Casson’s account,
p- 52, cannot mean an open road that had been in daily use
almost since the first settloment, and ran dirvectly from the
Fort over the site of the square long afterwurds known as
the Place d’Armes, to the Hotel Dieu. This chemin de traine
was broken by carrying wood to the new buildings, and in
all probability ran up towards the rising ground which
reaches its height between Notre Dame and St. James
streets, and in all likelihood along the line of the present
St. Sulpice street. This direction is the more probable from
the fact that the road used by the Indians to gain the moun-
tain, as shown on a map of 1680, ran by the north-west
corner of the present Place d'Armes, and as the usual land-
ing-place was inside the little island now covered by the
1sland Wharf, it probably ran up or near St. Sulpice street
and through the present Place d’Armes.

Here we have a place which would allow for the action
and time required by the narrative. The men were scat-
tered behind the trees and made a good fight until the am-
munition began to fail, and as they were badly supplied
with snow-shoes, a retreat was ordered to the chemin de traine,
for firmer footing. This reached, they broke and ran, and
De Maisonneunve retreated, facing the enemy, and from time
to time stopping and menacing them as they pressed too
closely. When the open road to the Fort was reached the
fugitives were nearly cut down by the cannon of the Fort
trained on the open road, the sentinel mistaking them for
the enemy, and as it all occurred on a fine March morning,
they must have been some distance away. De Maisonneuve
had not yet appeared, and his fate was unknown until a few
minutes afterwards, when he entered safe and sound after
his perilous adventure, Had it occurred on the old Place
d’Armes, not two hundred yards away, it would have been
in full sight of the watching garrison. Bearing the above
in mind, I think, although we may not agree with the pre-
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ciseness with which M. Faillon places the exploit, wo must
conclude that the old Place d’Armes cannot have been the
place; that it was at some distance beyond, and probably
to the north of, the Hotel Dieu, and may fairly accept the
tradition which fixes it as the present Place d’Armes.

[Communicated by Mr, CaarLes M. Hovrt.]

The following interesting item is from the note book of Mr. W.
B. Lambe: *‘June 26, 1856.—Rev. Joseph Abbott, formerly Rector
of St. Andrews, Canada, afterwards lecturer in History, McGill
College, Montreal, told me that George Washington, first President
of the U. 8. of America, was born in Westmoreland, England,
about six miles from where Abbott himself was born. That
‘Washington was christened by the Viecar of the Parish (Burns,
whose son was the author of ‘ Burns’ Justice’), and that Washing-
ton was taken from England to America by his parents when
about two months old. Rev. Mr. Abbott, at my request, wrote
for a certificate from the Register of the Parish and received for
repiy ‘ that the register had been defaced.””

Rublications Received.

Tus MysteERIOUS STRANGER or Memoirs of the Noted Henry More
Smith. By Walter Bates, Esquire. Saint John, N.B.; printed by
Geo. W. Day. corner Prince William and Princess streets. 5th
Edition. 1887.

[ Communicated by the Secy. of the New Brunswick Historical Society.]

One of the most popular publications, of a social character, in the
Province of New Brunswick, is the pamphlet entitled “The
Mysterious Stranger; or, Memoirs of the Noted Henry More
Smith.” This little book, it is stated on the title page, contains “a
correct account of his extraordinary conduct during the thirteen
months of bis confinement in the jail of King’s County, Province
of New Brunswick, where he was convicted of horse stealing, and
under sentence of death.” It also purports to give “ a sketch of his
life and character from his first appearance at Windsor, in Nova
Scotia, in the year 1812, until the time of his apprehension and
confinement.” To which is also added “a history of his career,
embracing an account of his imprisonments and escapes, selected
from the most authentic sources, both publicand private.” Walter
Bates, Esq., the author, was High Sherift' of King’s County during
the period of Smith’s imprisonment and for many years after.
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Mr. Bates was born in Stamford, Connecticut, and came to New
Brunswick in the spring of 1783 with the Loyalists.

Henry More Smith was an accomplished vagabond and thief,
who found in the good old Loyalist, Sheriff Bates, a biographer of
no mean order, and the popularity of the book has no doubt been
due entirely to the powers of description displayed by the author
in the simple narrative he has so well written. Six editions of the
book have been printed since its first appearance in 1830, and the
salo still continues. Smith’s misdeeds and adventures excited at
the time of their occurrence a great deal of interestin the rural
districts of the Province, and ignorant persons were disposed to
attribute his cleverness to dealings with Satan. Many of the old
residents of the locality who have, during the last few years, passed
away, were never weary of relating anecdotes of this remarkable
man, and relics of his mechanical skill were preserved in the
parish for many years after his departure. The book is of great
local historic value, and many of the names recorded on its pages
have become famous in the annalg of New Brunswick. The old
jail at Kingston, where the “noted Henry More Smith” was
imprisoned, has long since disappeared, and Kingston itself has
algo ceased to be the shiretown of King’s County, but a short
distance from thesite of the old jail still stands the parish church,
where the good sheriff and his family worshipped, and close to the
entrance in the graveyard, by which it is almost surrounded,
stands a square fresstone column, beneath which rests the mortal
remains of the staunch Loyalist and his wife, and on it is cut this
epitaph :

In memory of
WALTER BATES, Esa.,
High Sheriff of this County,

who died
Febroary 11th, A.D., 1842,
Aged 82 years.

MRS. ABIGAIL BATES,
Wife of
WALTER BATES, Esq.,
Who died July 6, 1820,

In the 58th year of her age.

Several of the prominent persons mentioned by Sheriff Bates in
his little book sleepin that neglectert churchyard, “ the sleep that
knows no waking,” and on many of the headstones, scattered
around, the record is cut that the sleeper was a United Empire
Loyalist.

St. John, N.B., March,1889. Joxas Howe.




